

# ST. MARY'S UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

# WORKFORCE DIVERSITY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES AND CHALLENGES THE CASE OF COMMERCIAL BANK OF ETHIOPIA

BY BETELHEM DEMSEW ID SGS/0063/2009B

> JULY, 2019 ADDIS ABABA, ETHIOPIA

# WORKFORCE DIVERSITY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES AND CHALLENGES THE CASE OF COMMERCIAL BANK OF ETHIOPIA

## BY BETELHEM DEMSEW ID SGS/0063/2009B

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO ST. MARY'S UNIVERSITY, SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION (MBA GENERAL)

> JULY, 2019 ADDIS ABABA, ETHIOPIA

# ST. MARY'S UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

# WORKFORCE DIVERSITY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES AND CHALLENGES THE CASE OF COMMERCIAL BANK OF ETHIOPIA

# BY BETELHEM DEMSEW ID SGS/0063/2009B

#### APPROVED BY BOARD OF EXAMINERS

Dean, Graduate Studies	Signature	Date
Advisor	Signature	Date
External Examiner	Signature	Date
Internal Examiner	 Signature	Date

#### **DECLARATION**

I, the undersigned declare that this thesis is my original work, prepared under the guidance of Solomon Markos (PhD, Asst. Prof). All sources of materials used for the thesis have been duly acknowledged. I further confirm that the thesis has not been submitted either in part or in full to any other higher learning institution for the purpose of earning any degree.

St Mary's University	May, 2019
Betelhem Demsew	

### **ENDORSEMENT**

St. Mary's University	May, 2019	
Advisor	Signature	
examination with my approval as a university ad	visor.	
This thesis has been submitted to St. Mary's Uni	versity, sensor of Gradate Stadies to	

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

<u>Acknowledgements</u>	<u>i</u>
List of Abbreviations and Acronyms	ii
List of Tables.	iii
Abstract.	iv
INTRODCUTION	1
1.1 Background of the study	1
1.2 Back ground of the organization	2
1.3 Problem statement	3
1.4 Research questions	5
1.5 Objective of the study	5
1.5.1 General objective	5
1.5.2 Specific objective	5
1.6 Definition of Terms	5
1.7 Significance of the study	6
1.8 Scope of the study	6
1.9 Organization of the paper	7
CHAPTER TWO	7
LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1 Workforce diversity defined	7
2.2 Managing workforce diversity	8
2.3 Working Environment	10
2.4 The benefits of workforce diversity	11
2.5 Approaches in managing workforce diversity	12
2.5.1 Equal opportunity approach	12
2.5.2 Diversity training programs	13
2.5.3 The management of diversity approach	14
2.6 Challenges of managing workforce diversity	14
2.7 Management ability to utilize the Opportunity	15
2.8 Empirical review	16
CHAPTER THREE	17
RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	17
3.1 Research Design and Approach	17
3.2 Target Population and Sampling Methods	17
3.3 Sample Size Determination	18
3.4 Data Type and Source	19
3.5 Data collection Procedure	19
3.6 Reliability and Validity of the instrument	20
3.6.1 Validity	20

3.6.2 Reliability	20
3.7 Methods of data analysis	21
3.8 Ethical Consideration	21
CHAPTER FOUR	22
DATA ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION	22
4.1 Introduction	22
4.1.2 Data preparation	22
4.2 Respondents demographic profiles	22
4.3 Descriptive analysis of responses of the questionnaire	25
4.4 Interview Discussion	
CHAPTER FIVE	43
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	43
5.1 Summary of Major Findings	43
5.2 Conclusions	45
5.3 Limitations of the study	46
5.4 Recommendations	46
References	v
APPENDIX-A	ix
APPENDIX-B	XV

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to those who have helped me to complete this research project paper. My special thanks goes to my advisor Dr. Solomon Markos for his guidance and useful comments throughout the development of this study. I would like to extend my gratefulness to the Commercial Bank of Ethiopia staffs for responding valuable feedbacks. I owe my earnest thankful to my family and friends for their unreserved help, care and encouragement throughout my study.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

CBE Commercial Bank of Ethiopia

HR Human Resource

SPSS Statistical Package for Social Sciences

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Sample Size of Selected Branches	
Table 3.2 Reliability test of variables	
TABLE 4.1: Demographic profile of the respondent	
Table 4.5: Perception on Gender Diversity	)
Table 4.6: Perception on Age Diversity	!
Table 4.7: Perception on educational diversity34	4
Table 4.8: Perception on benefits of workforce diversity	5
Table 4.9: Perception on challenges of workforce diversity management	8
Table 4.10: Perception on CBE Policy towards Workforce Diversity and Inclusion4	1
Table 4.12 Perception on Managers ability to utilize the advantage of Diversity  Management	3

#### **ABSTRACT**

The purpose of this study was to empirically assess the practice and challenges of workforce diversity management in Commercial bank of Ethiopia. To achieve this purpose a mixed research approach (both qualitative and quantitative) is used by applying descriptive type of research design using the survey method of data collection. The sample consisted of 300 managers selected from branches under Addis Ababa districts. Questionnaire with five-point Likert scale and semi structured interview issued to collect primary data. Regarding to the assessment of practice and challenges of workforce diversity management questionnaire were adopted from (Kelali, 2018) and (Smith, 2011) and amended as per the related literature and the objectives of the study. SPSS software 20.0 version is used to analyze the collected data by using descriptive statistics such as frequencies and percentages. Results on the overall assessment of practice and challenges of workforce diversity management shows a gender and age imbalance in managerial position of the bank. Company practice diversity management based on equal employment opportunity but fails to implement inclusion policy such a policy benefits the company to become more creative, efficient, and productive. On the other hand negative attitudes of an individual such as discrimination, lack of ability to manage a diverse workforce and intention to turnover are serious challenges to manage a diverse workforce. Hence, based on the findings and mainly from the Conclusion different recommendations are suggested. Commercial bank of Ethiopia should develop and implement a policy that helps leaders to smooth their day to day activities and to avoid negative attitudes and harmonize the working relationship and utilize the opportunities of having a diverse workforce. The bank should also give diversity training such as cultural training to leaders as well to all employees in order create awareness and avoid negative attitudes of an individual.

**Keywords**: Diversity, Workforce Diversity, Diversity Management, Gender diversity, Age diversity, Educational Diversity.

\_

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### INTRODCUTION

#### 1.1 Background of the study

The ever increasing interconnectedness in various features and subsequent advances in technology bring together the world more than ever. In this realm, information is flowing from one end to the other in seconds, delivery of goods and services is carried out in all due efficiency and companies are constantly innovating to cope up with the fast moving dynamics and satisfy their customers. Given this fact, companies are expanding their activities throughout the world opening new branches creating new services so as to reach new customer base and sustain in the market. Having this reality, in order to sustain in the highly competitive global market, organizations' have to effectively manage and utilize the skills workforce they acquire. As companies are reaching more and more destinations, their workforce is becoming diversified. It's high time for companies to build on it, use creative strategies to make the most out of the diversified workforce being staying in the market competitive (Srivastava, 2012).

Workforce diversity can be seen from two major perspectives; narrow and broad: the former one includes age, race, gender, color, physical ability, ethnicity among others. While, the later denotes age, national origin, religion, disability, sexual orientation, values, ethnic culture, education, language, lifestyles, beliefs, physical appearance, economic status, marital status and background characteristics such as geographic origin, tenure with the organization, economic status (Wentling and Plama-Rivas,1997). Workforce diversity is the issue of people, focus on the differences and similarities that people bring to an organization. Workforce diversity means similarities and differences among employees in terms of age, cultural background, physical abilities and disabilities, race, religion, gender, and sexual orientation. No two humans are alike. People are different in not only gender, culture, race, social and psychological characteristics but also in their perspectives and prejudices. Society had discriminated on these aspects for centuries. Diversity makes the work force heterogeneous. In current scenario, employing diversified workforce is a necessity for every organization but to manage such diversified workforce is also a big challenge for management.

According to Sungjoo, (2010)in order to navigate through this complex and changing situation, manger's today are responsible for both leading employees and responding to the needs of customers who are more ethnically and culturally diverse, educational qualifications and

experiences vary, older, values and life styles differ. In today's world leaders in both the public and the private sectors are focusing more attention on the issue of diversity. Whether the goal is to be an employer of choice, to provide excellent customer service, or to maintain a competitive edge, diversity is increasingly recognized and utilized as an important organizational resource.

Since the main task of managers in an organization is looking after the organizational objectives are met linking with the strategic plan, they make sure that the right policies and procedures are followed. One of the concerns of today's managers in this aspect is keeping the equilibrium workforce diversity. Since most organizations are formulating diversity policies and procedures, managers are primarily responsible for the success of diversity policies because they must ensure that the policies are generating the needed outcome. Instead of treating every employee alike to recognizing and responding to those differences, it is a way to ensure employee retention and greater productivity. Various literatures on workforce diversity state that the key issues revolve around but not limited to address the problems of discrimination in terms of gender, age, and ethnicity and education background. When diversity is not managed properly, there will be a potential for higher turnover, difficult in communication and interpersonal conflicts. Overall, it will be adversarial to organization's performance, profitability and reputation. (Green et al., 2002).

#### 1.2 Back ground of the organization

Commercial Bank of Ethiopia, established in 1942, is the leading bank in Ethiopia and leading African bank with assets of 565.5 billion birr as on June 30<sup>th</sup> 2018 having more than 1,280 branches stretched across the country It is pioneer to introduce modern banking to the country and Western Union Money Transfer Services in Ethiopia early 1990s and currently working with other 20 money transfer agents like Money Gram, Atlantic International (Bole), Xpress Money, etc. It is playing a catalytic role in the economic progress & development of the country. CBE has reliable and long-standing relationships with more than 50 renowned internationally acclaimed banks like Commerz Bank A.G., Royal Bank of Canada, City Bank, HSBC Bank, etc. throughout the world. Besides, CBE has a SWIFT bilateral arrangement with more than 700 others banks across the world. Currently CBE has more than 18.8 million account holders and the number of Mobile and Internet Banking users also reached more than 1,736,768 as of June 30th 2018. Active ATM card holders reached more than 4.4 million. The Bank combines a wide capital base with more than 33,000 talented and committed employees.

In addition to these, CBE has opened four branches in South Sudan and has been in the business since June 2009.AS of 2016-17 first quarter report the bank starts to undertake research to open branches in different part of the world and in the same fiscal year CBE launched its branch in Djibouti and started giving service Even though CBE have these all efforts to expand its services all over the world and achieve the mission which is to become world class commercial bank, without proper human resource management practice specially it's impossible without practicing workforce diversity management. (www.combanketh.et)

#### 1.3 Problem statement

In the current rapidly changing world, workforce diversity is a one of the major issues that need the attention of organizations and managers. Any business that intends to be successful must have a borderless view and an underlying commitment to ensuring that workforce diversity is part of its day-today business activity (Childs, 2005)

Workforce diversity is also proclaimed as an opportunity for organizations to become more creative, to reach previously untapped markets, and in general to achieve and maintain a competitive advantage. Even though workforce diversity management results several benefits for organization it has also problems or risks if the process is not managed in the proper way.

Mostly, for various reasons, managers do not know how to effectively practice diversity management, and what factors contribute to effective diversity management. The more managers attain the skills of managing workforce diversity, the more they can utilize the skills, knowledge and attitude of their employees. Furthermore, if managers are good enough in managing diversity refers they can breed a comfortable ground for the diverse workforce to perform its full potential in an equitable work environment where no group has earned an advantage or disadvantage and also organizations with a diverse workforce can communicate easily with their customers, understand their feelings and provide superior service which is key for any company to sustain in the market and advance its competitive advantage (Henry and Evans, 2007).

Being in a competitive and very diverse world, the success or failure of any organization depends on the efficient and effective utilization of its diverse human resource skills, knowledge and attitude. In relation to this very idea, one of the key components of the methods of keeping a firm successful is work force diversity. If organizations' fail to properly comply with and manage their work force diversity, it will be difficult for them to identifying and

indicating whether a firm has enough work force diversity strategies for working with diversity to achieve the goal of the organization (Kreitz, 2008).

Like many of developing countries Ethiopia has diversified population content and organization is little country that represents those varied nation in one place. Commercial Bank of Ethiopia is one and the leading organization that support the economy by employing large pool of the population who are varied in terms of age, ethnicity, culture, experience, gender and education background.

Commercial Bank of Ethiopia (CBE) is the biggest commercial bank in Ethiopia. As a leader in the banking industry, it has gone through several reforms and expansions to provide services for its customers. As a result, for the last five years, opened more than 600 new branches locally and five branches internationally and employed more than 17,000 new employees to improve saving culture of the society, increase its accessibility and changing un-banking society to banking. However, those newly opened branches in different part of the country have varied culture and values as the company expand in such way in different geographical area the employee mix become more diversified and difficult to manage and comply with organizational objective.

Currently CBE has 33,000 employees and more than 18.8 million account holders and the number of Mobile and Internet Banking users also reached more than 1,736,768 as of June 30th 2018 In order to satisfy the huge number of employees and customers who are more ethnically and culturally diverse, educational qualifications and experiences vary, older, values and life styles in this dynamic and competitive environment as many research indicates organization has to implement strategic workforce diversity management.

Despite, the efforts to expand nationally as well internationally and mobilize large amount of resource and increase its accessibility throughout the country. However, there is still little attention given to it apart from the usually stated universal equal employment opportunity approach and the likes. On the flip side, organizations are left without turning in to an asset the workforce diversity they have only for the simple reason of failing to recognize and manage what they really have in different aspects such as age, sex, work experience, education level, ethnic background, religion, values among others. Robersons (2007), study indicated diversity management benefit organizations to become more creative, to reach previously untapped markets and talents, and in general to achieve and maintain a competitive advantage

Thus such policy gap incents the researcher to undertake study on the area to show the practice and challenges of workforce diversity management in commercial bank of Ethiopia and pin point possible recommendation to improve the existing practice of workforce diversity management and overcome challenges that hinder the practices of diversity management.

#### 1.4 Research questions

- What are the benefits of workforce diversity management in commercial bank of Ethiopia?
- What are the challenges to manage the diverse workforce?
- How managers in commercial bank of Ethiopia utilize workforce diversity opportunities?
- How diversity management practiced in commercial bank of Ethiopia?

#### 1.5 Objective of the study

#### 1.5.1 General objective

The general objective of the study is to assess the practice of workforce diversity management and its challenge in CBE.

#### 1.5.2 Specific objective

- To assess the workforce diversity practice in Commercial bank of Ethiopia.
- To identify the challenges to manage workforce diversity.
- To examine the management ability in utilizing work force diversity opportunities.
- To assess the benefits of workforce diversity management

#### 1.6 Definition of Terms

**Diversity:** can be termed as any significant difference that distinguishes one individual from another that portrays a broad range of overt and hidden qualities (Kreitz, 2007).

**Workforce diversity**: co-existence of employees from different socio-cultural backgrounds within the company (Henry and Evans, 2007).

**Diversity management**: is the systematic and planned commitment by the organizations to recruits, retain, reward and promote a heterogeneous mix of employees (Henry and Evans, 2007).

#### 1.7 Significance of the study

This study sought to contribute to those who have similar interest on workforce diversity to carry out in-depth analysis and research. Hence, its result contributes to those who seek to get information on workforce diversity in a local organization. Above all CBE managers may benefited from the finding so as to identify benefits and challenges of diversity management and develop a strategy to maximize its benefits and harmonize the working relationship it also enhance the knowledge of the group members of this study through linking the theoretical knowledge to the experience with existing organizations and provide alternative training and development methods to improve workforce diversity management practices in commercial and private bank. It could be used as source of information for those interested in the area.

#### 1.8 Scope of the study

According to Kreitz (2007) diversity can be termed as any significant difference that distinguishes one individual from another that portrays a broad range of overt and hidden qualities. Moreover, Canas and Sondak(2010) illustrated that diversity can have primary and secondary dimensions. The former refers to race, age, gender, physical abilities and ethnicity while the latter focuses on socioeconomic status, geographical location, marital status, religious affiliation and education. They contend that an individual has multiple identities and that the various dimensions cannot be isolated in an organizational setting. However, this study focuses on only age, gender, year of experience and educational background to assess the practice and challenges of diversity management. In order to conduct the research under this topic, 1280 branches opened and provide banking service up to Jun 30, 2018in Ethiopia. Out of this due to location reason only Addis Ababa city branches selected as a sample to provide valuable and relevant information.

The target population of this study is employees in the managerial position according to (Wheeler, 1997) managing diversity are an important part of a manager's job. They believed to provide relevant information for the topic and excluded the clerical staffs because of time financial constraints and also the researcher believes they are more important to the topic and responsible to manage the workforce.

#### 1.9 Organization of the paper

The study is divided in to five chapters. The first chapter deals with introduction which encompasses background of the study, statement of the problem, research questions, objectives of the study, significance of the study, scope of the study, limitation of the study, background of CBE as well as organization of study.

The second chapter deals with the review of related literatures on diversity management. This part gives a highlight on the theoretical and empirical review of the topic under study. The third chapter discussed research design and methodology which includes population and sampling size, data type and source, data collection instrument, data analysis technique and methods. The fourth chapter is the presentation, analysis and interpretation, it is carefully diagnosed the data collected through questionnaire and interview. The fifth chapter is dedicated to summary of findings, conclusions and recommendations by the researcher based on the outcomes the overall study.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Workforce diversity defined

Diversity is defined as any dimension that differentiates one person from the other that embraces age, ethnicity, gender, education, work style; race *inter alia* (Noe, 2010). According to Kreitz (2007) diversity can be termed as any significant difference that distinguishes one

individual from another that portrays a broad range of overt and hidden qualities. Moreover, Canas and Sondak (2010) illustrated that diversity can have primary and secondary dimensions. The former refers to race, age, gender, physical abilities and ethnicity while the latter focuses on socioeconomic status, geographical location, marital status, religious affiliation and education. In the same way, some view diversity generally incorporating cultural factors such as race, gender, age, color, physical abilities and ethnicity. Further elaborating the concept, it entails age, national origin, religion, disability, sexual orientation, values, ethnic culture, education, language, life style, beliefs, physical appearance and economic status (Noe, 2010).

Aligning the concept of diversity with workforce diversity, Henry and Evans (2007) state that workforce diversity denotes to the co-existence of employees from different socio-cultural backgrounds within the company. In a more elaborate way, Wentling and Plama-Rivas (1997) define workforce diversity in to two major areas: narrow and broad. The narrow definition includes age, race, gender, color, physical ability, ethnicity among others. While the broader and more inclusive definition may also include age, national origin, religion, disability, sexual orientation, values, ethnic culture, education, language, lifestyles, beliefs, physical appearance, economic status, marital status and background characteristics such as geographic origin, tenure with the organization, economic status and other issues people might differ each other. The workforce is becoming increasingly diverse with the advancement of globalization and subsequent demographic changes that demand organizations to develop equal opportunity and diversity strategies to attract and retain skilled employees, improve workforce performance and keep the equilibrium of their competitive position (Torrington, Hall& Taylor, 2008). The concept of workforce diversity has started gaining the attention of management scholars with the emergence of globalization and subsequent need of organizations to branch out globally and reach customers across the world. In addition to this, the liberalization policies and structural adjustment policies propagated by the international financial institutions in the 1990's opened the door to those unexplored areas such as Africa that resulted in the entrance of multinational corporations and free movement of labor (Henry & Evans, 2007).

#### 2.2 Managing workforce diversity

In today's period of globalization and demographic changes the workforce is becoming ever more diverse and organizations find it important to deal with workforce diversity through various mechanisms such as developing equal opportunity and diversity strategies to attract and retain talent to improve workforce performance and so retain and promote their competitive position (Noe, 2010).

Triandis, Kurowski, and Gelfand (1992) emphasize that managing diversity refers to changing the culture of the organization such as the standard operating procedures. And such experience requires data, experimentation, and the discovery of the procedures that work best for each diversified group. The current approach of diversity management is more complex than conventional management but can result in more effective organizations. Furthermore, managing diversity refers enabling the diverse workforce to perform its full potential in an equitable work environment where no group has earned an advantage or disadvantage (Henry and Evans, 2007).

According to Green et al., (2002) today's companies need to embrace diversity and look for ways to become inclusive organizations as diversity has a potential of yielding improved work productivity and competitive advantages. Diversity is beneficial in such a way that lead to respecting individual differences that will lead to an increase in productivity. In a related manner, proper diversity management helps the organization in reducing lawsuits, increase marketing opportunities, recruitment, creativity and business image. In this interconnected world where flexibility and innovations are the key components to competitiveness, diversity is critical for an organizations' success.

The recent approach of managing diversity is to empower or enable employees that prescribe various methods which are broad enough to encompass all dimensions of diversity. It also emphasizes managerial skills and policies needed to optimize and emphasize every employee's contribution to the organizational goals (Wentling and Plama-Rivas, 1997). Moreover, managing diversity requires individuals in any organization to be respectful, curious, patient and willing to learn.

In an effort to better understand workforce diversity and manage it accordingly scholars' classified it in to various categories of which the majority are based on perception and dichotomous in nature. Some of the classifications identified in the literature include readily detectable/ less observable, surface-level/deep-level, and highly-job related/less job-related, task-related/relations-related and role-related/inherent dimensions among others (Simons and Rowland, 2011). Yet the many classifications of diversity can be summed up in to the information and decision making perspective and the social organization perspective.

Simons and Rowland (2011) further elaborate that the information and decision making perspective is a theoretical means of understanding the link between organizational diversity and organizational effectiveness. The most relevant domains of this very classification are innovation and creativity, problem solving capacity, and organizational flexibility. Based on these three major sub-categories, the major ingredients components of innovation and creativity are diversity of perspectives in an organization that ultimately increases the capacity of an organization to come up with new ideas and value propositions. In a related manner the problem-solving aspect features better solutions will come up with diverse and heterogeneous working environment. Also the flexibility approach indicates multicultural management practices would result in changes that would allow organizational system not solely depends on procedures rather exercises high degree of flexibility.

The social organization perspective, according to Horwitz (2005),based in the similarity attraction that refers to individuals that are more similar will be able to work together more effectively. This perspective more of focuses on social categories such as gender, age, race, ethnicity etc. as a means of expanding external networks and as well as a source of increasing conflict between individuals between the social group. On the other hand the social organization perspective also recognizes a significant source of conflict and subsequent loss of organizational effectiveness related to the alignment of individuals along social identity lines. As there is shown significance difference between the information and decision making perspective and the social organization perspective, the best way to accommodate it is using an integrated model (Simons and Rowland, 2011).

#### 2.3 Working Environment

Employee leaves the job due to work environment. According to Irshad (2009) the working environment is the key to employee retention. If the working environment is not conductive to employees there is high employee turnover.

Organization which plan for anticipate workforce and accept cultural diversity management as a progressive technique and will benefit from better employee retention increase productivity, less absenteeism, better moral an expanded market place and improved customer service on the other hand a company that discriminate either directly or indirectly curtails the potential of available talent underutilizes, employee turnover and low productivity. (Ellis and Sannenfield,

1994) the study also shows the positive link of organization climate with employee satisfaction and commitment. In order to accommodate with diversity and manage the diverse workforce effectively organization must value and change organization culture.

#### 2.4 The benefits of workforce diversity

In this period of globalization where organizations relentlessly rival each other to reach more customers and sustain the market place, businesses have to incorporate diversity initiatives in their day-to-day practices so as to enhance their competitiveness, sustainability and broaden their success (Hudson, 2014). With the gaining momentum of equal opportunities for employees through affirmative action and other mechanisms, diversity is becoming potential advantage for organizations. Hudson (2014) further contend "the knowledge-based view and decision making perspectives have been used to suggest that diversity promotes creativity and improves decision- making effectiveness, and hence, lead to superior performance" (Hudson, 2014, P. 73).

Furthermore, Henry and Evans (2007) state that diversity in the workforce is a competitive advantage as the various view points in the organization can easily facilitate unique and creative mechanisms to problem-solving which enhances greatly creativity and innovation that leads to better organizational performance. In a related discourse, diversity is the best instrument to enhance company performance given the environment that promotes learning from diversity (Noe, 2010). Moreover, though organizations' success in tapping the benefits of diversity depends on their ability to develop a workable plan that enable to embrace and realize it, it has the advantages of stimulating creativity and innovation that help to outperform competition, serving a multicultural customers with better understanding of people from different backgrounds of culture, economic status, political background, countries of origin among others, providing better access to diversified problem solving skills and perspectives and allowing more flexibility to the organizational culture that lead to better productivity (Saxena, 2014).

Diversity in the workforce is one of the big plus in organizations' effectiveness and Henry and Evans (2007) emphasize that it improves organizational decision making, problem solving skills, creativity and innovation, greater success in marketing and better distribution of economic opportunity. Also, as the experiences of several companies witnessed, culturally diverse groups are more effective in the interaction process and job performance. The other crucial matter is organizations with a diverse workforce can communicate easily with their

customers, understand their feelings and provide superior service and accordingly (Henry and Evans, 2007). The same source indicate that diversity enriches organizational human capital that entails the minimization of being dependent on the same source of human skill for selection and promotion which lead to a wider range of ideas and abilities offering greater scope for competitive performance through developing the human capital. For a company to be successful in its diversity efforts, it is inevitable to make long-term commitment to managing diversity. Successful diversity approach requires to be viewed as an opportunity for employees of any organization to share experiences and learn from each other how to best perform their jobs, accompanied with a supportive and cooperative organizational culture and skilled leadership and problem solving abilities that can facilitate effective teamwork (Noe, 2010).

In a broader perspective, workforce diversity is a refers to the process of creating and maintaining a discrimination free workplace committed to recognizing and appreciating the multiplicity of characteristics that make individuals unique in an environment that values and promotes individual and collective efforts that contribute to a sound and healthy organizational arrangement (Hudson, 2014).

### 2.5 Approaches in managing workforce diversity

Companies may pursue different approaches in accordance with the type of organization, the nature of diversity in the organization, management philosophy *inter alia*. Having this in mind, there are some common approaches widely practiced and acceptable.

#### 2.5.1 Equal opportunity approach

One common approach in managing workforce diversity is through the affirmative action policies and human resource practices that reflect the standards of equal employment opportunity laws (Noe, 2010). Moreover, Torrington, Hall& Taylor (2008) further elaborated that the equal opportunity approach tries to influence behavior through legislation that prohibits discrimination characterized by moral and ethical stance promoting the rights of all members of any organization.

Even if this approach has been propagated by many activists and management gurus, it is not left without limitations. The equal opportunities approach is heavily criticized for giving due emphasis on the quality of opportunity rather than the equality of outcome (Torrington, Hall&

Taylor, 2008). It is based on the understanding that some section of the society is being discriminated in the selection process due to irrelevant criteria that mostly arise from assumptions of stereotypical characteristics attributed to some members of socially define group.

Though the equal opportunities approach tries to fill the gap through providing better access to employment opportunities establishing formal procedures, it has limitations as it barley results in changes in stereotypes, values and behaviors which inhibit productivity and personal development. The assumption that drives this approach is that equality of outcome will gain momentum if proper rules and procedures are used and monitored (Torrington, Hall& Taylor, 2008). In addition, the approach is deemed as a simplistic approach as it incorporates the very idea that since minority groups have joined an organization and demonstrated their abilities to perform in the organization this will eventually change attitudes and beliefs of those working in the organization.

#### 2.5.2 Diversity training programs

Companies are increasingly facing the rapidly changing environment and the stiff competition in the market. In order to have better competitive advantage, companies expand throughout the world and their workforce is also becoming ever diverse. With such evolving trends, organizations try to cope up with the diversity of the workforce through diversity training programs. Diversity training helps to change the attitude of employees about diversity and enable them to develop the skills needed to work with a diverse workforce (Noe, 2010). Diversity training programs need to take in to consideration the company's needs, history and culture, should it be successful. According to Noe (2010) diversity training programs can have two aspects: attitude awareness and change programs and behavior based programs. The former, deals with enhancing employees' awareness of different cultural and geographic backgrounds as well as personal characteristics that influence behavior toward others. The attitude awareness program assists employees to deliberate on the similarities and differences between cultural groups, explore attitudes toward affirmative action or analyze employees' beliefs about the reasons for the ineffective efforts of marginalized employees in their jobs. In a bit changing approach, the latter focuses on changing the organizational policies and individual behaviors that hamper personal growth and productivity. This program explores the magnitude that to what extent the work environment and management practices value employee differences and provide equal opportunity. Based on the feedback, specific training programs may be developed to address the issues raised.

#### 2.5.3 The management of diversity approach

This approach more of relies on individuals rather than groups and embraces the improvement of opportunities for all individuals rather than those marginalized or minority groups in an attempt to involve every one and benefit everyone from the process (Torrington, Hall& Taylor, 2008). The advantage of this approach is that separate groups are not singled out for specific treatment and is based on the economic and business case for treating people equally. It emphasizes the very benefit of the employer if it treats all the employees equally and value them as it ensures everyone in the organization get equal opportunities. Yet, this approach is also criticized for its complexity due to the various interpretations that rests on the prominence of groups or individuals (Torrington, Hall& Taylor, 2008).

#### 2.6 Challenges of managing workforce diversity

Managing diversity is not a simple task it is more than valuing differences in people it involves fighting discrimination and promotes inclusiveness in doing so managers challenged with loss of staff turnover and can have long-reaching effects on employee satisfaction and productivity. Henry and Evans, (2007).

Negative thoughts and behavior can be serious barriers to organizational diversity because they can harm working relationships and damage morale and work productivity such behaviors are Stereotypes. These are those set of attitude people have about the personal attributes of groups of people. It is about generalizing, it comes as a result of our learning, thinking and remembering the differences between various set of people. The reason why there is stereotype in the workplace is that role assignment according to gender still persists. Stereotyping are the firm philosophies we have about a group of people. It shows up our bias and experience with one member of a group is applied to every member of the group. Stereotype is closely connected to what we see, how we judge and act.

Another challenge is prejudice which is unfair and unreasonable opinion or feeling, especially when formed without enough thought or knowledge an unjustified negative attitude toward a person based on his or her membership in a particular group. Prejudice can have demonstrated in different forms. It can show up during the hiring process, promotion, or even the daily interactions that take place with the work environment. Bedi,P.,Lakra,P.andGupta,E.(Apr.

2014). As (Hubbard, 2004) discrimination seeing someone unfairly or differently due to their membership in a particular group. It can be demonstrated in a way someone treat individual and made decision about others and it can affect employee's passion, work relationship, carrier advancement and their productivity.

Maintaining and managing a diverse workforce need financial capacity than keeping homogenous workforce it needs higher cost. Costs associated with seminars, programs and lectures given to promote diversity in the corporation. These types of training are given to all levels of staff within the organization. They teach employees how to accept the personalities and ideas or thoughts of others. These programs also teach one how to deal with conflicts and prejudice in a professional and civil manner (White, 1999).

As Arredondo (1996) observed that the HR department of an organization can be a blockade to diversity management scheme. The study indicates a power struggle between managers in implementing diversity policies. And also communication is a serious barrier; People may speak different languages at work place because of different geographical region to which they belong. Due to which the people may find communication problems, misunderstanding and mistrust between employees which also affect their productivity(Ekot,2017).

#### 2.7 Management ability to utilize the Opportunity

Diversity management is considered as a proceed aimed to both maintain and create a positive work environment where all individual similarities and differences are valued and that all individual can maximize their contribution to organizational strategic objective and goals (Patrick and kumar,2012) the modern workplace generally presents unique leadership challenge due to racial age and educational background difference as a result managers have to find a way of effectively managing their workforce. However, there is no single recipe for managing diversity it depends on Managers ability to utilize the opportunity to do so managers must possess values skills and attitudes. According to Shaban (2016), top Managers commitment is the first step to manage the diverse workforce and to align diversity with leadership on supporting strategic operational decision and business objective. Managers also have to develop a self-awareness managers have to expand their self-awareness knowing the strength weakness and behavioral tendencies as well their cultural stereotype. Further, leader have to aware employees that everyone in the organization have different experience, attitude and perspective of others which enhance the understanding of others and create environment where all people share their idea freely and work harmoniously. (Jones and george, 2009)

Communication skill develops verbal as well nonverbal communication skill because having diversified workforce means employees with different cultural back ground with different means of communication therefore having the skill help leader to bridge the cultural divides and misunderstanding (Jones and George, 2009). Also possess the ability to drown on learned and embedded cultural knowledge to function well in culturally diverse environment and have to made attempt to narrow the social distance between themselves and subordinates.

#### 2.8 Empirical review

Some related studies are conducted by different researchers in Ethiopia and abroad specifically on the effect of diversity on employee as well organizational performance. The researcher could not find enough researches on the practice and challenges of workforce diversity management. However, different studies have been conducted on the topic related to diversity and its impact.

Findings of Hudsen (2014), study on diversity in the workforce shows connection between diversity in the workforce and innovation. According to Ekot (2017) study on effect of workforce diversity on employee performance in Nigeria banking industry found out there is significant positive relationship between workforce diversity (gender, age and educational back ground) with employee performance. The study also shows having a diversified educational background in the organization help employee to do their job based on their competence acquired through education, experience and training. Also having different age group mean older one perform better because they have experience, while the younger one also perform their job well because they are better in adopting new way of doing their jobs and they are innovative. Gender diversity also increase organizational effectiveness because both male and female have different think and act differently which bring different idea and way of thinking to the organization again improve team work. Another study on total Ethiopia S.C by (Assefa, 2017) shows the same significant positive relationship between workforce diversity and employee work performance.

#### CHAPTER THREE

#### RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

#### 3.1 Research Design and Approach

It is generally accepted that the selection and application of a research design is dictated by the problem at hand. Accordingly, to carry out this research and achieve the objectives, a mixed research approach (both qualitative and quantitative) is used. Based on the purpose, the study applied descriptive type of research design using the survey method of data collection; The reason for selected descriptive type is that the research has no control the variables rather it only report what is happened in the area where the research is conducted. According to Kothari (1990) the major purpose of descriptive research is to describe the state of affairs as it exists at present. Descriptive research includes surveys and fact-finding enquiries of different kinds. Moreover, survey method is believed to be appropriate for this study since it is commonly applied to a research designed to collect data from a specific population, or a sample from that population, and typically utilizes a questionnaire and an interview as the survey instrument.

#### 3.2 Target Population and Sampling Methods

The study examined the general practice and challenges of workforce diversity management in CBE. CBE has 1280 branches and as per the new Bank structure there is four manager in each branch out of which managers working in AA city selected as a target population due to location reason. AA city has 301 branches which are divided in to four grade (1, 2, 3& 4) based

on number of customers, volume of transaction and other criteria as of (Dec 2018 MIS report). So the relevant information gathered from selected branches in Addis Ababa city. Sample Size Determined using Yamane (1967) approach and 300 respondents were selected from 75 branches based on their convenience to the researcher. Hence, stratified random sampling is used proportionally to select branches of sample respondents from all grade level branches.

Generally, branches are the sample units whereas the four districts are source list or sample frame. The logic behind selecting the above branches from different grade level is in order to get real data and finally, helps to have a clear picture of the practice and challenges of diversity management of the organization.

The sample size is determined at 95% of confidence level and 5 % margin of error for 1,204(total 301 city branches\*4 respondents from each branch) target population. Hence, the sample size is 300 using Yamane (1967) approach.

**Table 3.1 Sample Size of Selected Branches** 

Addis Ababa City	Grade 4	Grade3	Grade2	Gradel	Total
No of branches	30	96	100	75	301
Sample size	7	24	25	19	75

#### 3.3 Sample Size Determination

$$nY= N / (1 + Ne2)$$
  
 $nY=1,204/(1+1,204*0.05^2)$   
 $= 300$ 

Where:

nY= Sample size using Yamane approach

N = Target population

e = Alpha level

#### 3.4 Data Type and Source

There are different types of data collection methods. The methods depend on the research objective and research design. Data collected from two or more sources can help to support and improve the quality of the research result. The goal of data collection is to gain rich data that suits to achieve the research objective. In this study, both primary and secondary data sources are utilized to address the research objectives. With regard to data collection instrument structured questionnaires and also semi-structured interview used, question adopted from (Kelali, 2018) and (Smith, 2011) and amended as per the objective of the study. Conduct an indepth interview clarifying with all the issues with the Human Resource Managers of the four Addis Ababa district. The use of structured questionnaire for branch managers allowed collecting data from varied groups in consistent way to assess the general approach of workforce diversity management practice and challenges in CBE.

HR inventory of the organization will use as secondary source of information for the study and document reviews will made on the books journals and HR policies and procedures of the organization to get the detailed data about the approaches it followed with regard to workforce diversity.

#### 3.5 Data collection Procedure

This study used both primary and secondary data collection method. Primary data were collected through questionnaires that were distributed directly to employees in managerial position. 5 likert scales were used as a measurement in which respondents indicate their extent of agreement or disagreement in order to measure the variables. by considering respondents experience and knowledge questionnaire was prepared in English. In the secondary data collection process, data were collected from books, journals, articles & prior research works that help the researcher to enlarge the knowledge in the topic under study.

To make the data reliable the data collectors who are working in commercial bank of Ethiopia was used. During the data collection sufficient time was given to the respondents to answer the questions adequately and freely.

#### 3.6 Reliability and Validity of the instrument

#### 3.6.1 Validity

Validity is the extent to which the research findings accurately represent what is really happening in the situation (Hughey and Mussnug, 1997). To ensure content validity, the researcher used questionnaires adopted from previous research work (kelali 2018) and (smith,2011) and amended after an in-depth analysis of previous literature and instruments about the issue also, a pilot study was conducted distributing 25 questionnaires to the managers of commercial bank of Ethiopia to test its validity.

#### 3.6.2 Reliability

Cronbach's Alpha methods were used to ensure the internal consistency of the variable and measuring reliability. Reliability is the degree to which measure of construct is dependable or consistent (Shuttleworth, 2015). According to Bonett and Wright (2014), Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .70 or higher is acceptable to determine the reliability of variables. Accordingly, the table below indicates the Cronbach's alpha result of the variables deployed in the study.

Table 3.2 Reliability test of variables

Variables	Cronbach's Alpha	No of Items
Gender diversity	.853	4
Age diversity	.732	4
Educational diversity	.864	4
Benefits of workforce diversity Management	.752	5
Challenges of workforce diversity Management	.912	5

CBE policy towards diversity Management	.867	5
Managers ability to utilize the advantage of	821	7
diversity Management	.021	

Source: own SPSS Result (2019)

As indicated in table 3.2, the reliability result for all the variable signified that the construct was well above the acceptable standard of .70 Cronbach's alpha coefficient

#### 3.7 Methods of data analysis

In this study, both qualitative and quantitative data analysis techniques are employed. Data collected using questionnaires was checked for consistency and completeness and then coded, organized and entered to computer. Then, it was processed and analyzed by Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS). To analyze the data descriptive statistics technique such as percentage and frequency are used. And these data are presented using tables, figure to see its condensed and clear picture. On the other hand, information gained through key informant interviews are analyzed qualitatively by descriptive statements.

#### 3.8 Ethical Consideration

The study gave due consideration to ethical issues such as confidentiality and anonymity. Therefore, the participants were first communicated as to the purpose and significance of the study and that their responses would be used only for academic purpose and kept confidential.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### DATA ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION

#### 4.1 Introduction

The aim of this study was to examine the practice and challenges workforce diversity management in commercial bank of Ethiopia. the study adopted and deployed as per the literature and the objectives of the study structured questionnaire to collect data developed based on Kelali (2019) .it uses Statistical package for social science for data analysis (SPSS v. 20).it deployed descriptive statistic in analyzing the collected data. The demographic profile of the respondent was analyzed and presented in this part using descriptive statistic such as frequency, percentage, mean and standard deviation.

#### 4.1.2 Data preparation

To address the research objective set, data were collected from commercial bank of Ethiopia mangers from 75 selected city branches. Accordingly, the researcher distributed 300 questionnaires. Out of 300 questionnaires, 267 were collected of which its response rate accounted for 89%. Moreover, in order to make the data analysis suitable for SPSS, the data collected using the questionnaire was coded for each question. Since, all the collected data had to fit for analysis and proved for that, all collected questionnaire were screened to be complete. Hence, the questionnaire was checked for errors and all returned incomplete questionnaire were considered as error, consequently, 9 incomplete questionnaires were discarded from the survey data. Thus, only 258 fully responded questionnaires were used for the analysis of the study.

#### 4.2 Respondents demographic profiles

The managers of CBE asked question regarding the major demographic characteristics such as gender, age, educational qualification and working experience and this part provide analysis of these key factors based on frequency analysis

#### 4.2.1 Demographic profile of the respondent

TABLE 4.1: Demographic profile of the respondent

Item	Frequency	Percent	Valid %	Cumulative %
MALE	205	79.5	79.5	79.5
FEMALE	53	20.5	20.5	100.0
Total	258	100.0	100.0	
20-30	93	36.0	36.0	36.0
31-40	125	48.4	48.4	84.5
41-50	40	15.5	15.5	100.0
Total	258	100.0	100.0	
COLLAGE DIPLOMA	9	3.5	3.5	3.5
BA/BSC DEGREE	150	58.1	58.1	61.6
MASTERS	96	37.2	37.2	98.8
PHD	3	1.2	1.2	100.0
Total	258	100.0	100.0	
LESS THAN 2 YEARS	3	1.2	1.2	1.2
2 TO 5 YEARS	59	22.9	22.9	24.0
6 TO 10 YEARS	136	52.7	52.7	76.7
ABOVE 10 YEARS	60	23.3	23.3	100.0
Total	258	100.0	100.0	

Source: own survey (2019)

The above table shows that the numbers of males are significantly greater than that of males which stood at 20.5% for females while 79.5 % for males. This signifies that the number of males outnumbers that of females, it indicated that the organization has to do a lot to attract more female managers through the effective utilization of equal opportunities techniques and affirmative action.

Apart from the gender disparity shown in table depicting the total number of managers, it shows the representation of male and female in senior level and middle level managerial positions. Even if females took 20.5% of managerial positions of the organization, it signifies that still dominated by males. As part of diversifying the workforce of and tapping the talents of females in managerial positions, the organization need to encourage women to hold positions in managerial positions using different techniques such as promotion of competitive internal female employees through affirmative action and capacitate them in training and development.

Looking at the age of employees, it looked the organization is dominated by young workforce between the age of 31-40 which is 48 % of the respondent followed by age between 20-30 accounted 36% of the respondent. On the other hand, there are very low numbers of employees between of 41-50 (accounted 16% or 40 of the respondent). However, the data showcased that the organization need to do more in diversifying the workforce in terms of age so as to tap the potentials of those between the age of 41-50 years as these very people acquire lots of skill, knowledge and attitude. Moreover, due to developed career, those employees between the age of 31-40 years are well experienced and with profound leadership experience.

Regarding educational status of the respondent majority of the respondent were degree holders 58.14 %.followed by masters holders which is 37.21 % or 96 of the respondent are masters holder and the remaining are 3.4% are diploma and 1.16% were PHD holders.

The education level of managers varies across their attainments. This signified that the organization has a diverse and qualified team leader in terms of educational qualification from PhD to diploma.

The table also shows most of the respondents has 6-10 years of experience in the organization (53% or more than half of the respondent) followed by 23.26% who worked in the organization above 10 years and 2-5 years (23%) and less than 2 years (1.16% of the respondent) respectively. This testifies that the working experience of the managers in the organization is diversified within the given years of range. The organization benefited from both new bloods to the organization who injects new ideas and innovative ways of working and flexibility with the new ones. On the other hand, the organization maximized the knowledge of those who have served in the organization from medium to long years of experience and understanding of the organizational culture as it gave the opportunity to the organization.

#### 4.3 Descriptive analysis of responses of the questionnaire

In order to see the general perception of the respondents regarding practices and challenges of diversity management in Commercial Bank of Ethiopia, the researcher has included the measures stated in the following tables and followed by analysis & interpretation supplemented using mean Standard deviation, tables, percentage and frequencies.

Mean was used to analyze the data. Under this circumstance, the maximum mean which is above 3(three) to 5(five) indicates the maximum number of respondents those who are agreed and strongly agreed to each question drawn by the researcher and mean whereas, less than 3 (three) indicates the number of respondents those who are disagreed and strongly disagreed to the question drawn by the researcher and 3(three) is considered as neutral or indifferent to the question. Based on this, the analysis traced here below is outlined according to nomination of mean listed on the table for each question.

#### **4.3.1** Gender Diversity

Table 4.2: perception on gender diversity

Gender diversity		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	Mean	Standard deviation
The employee have not been discriminated by	%	5.8	10.5	8.5	42.6	32.6	3.86	1.156
employer while hiring and recruiting process based on gender	Freq	15	27	22	110	84		
Fair treatment is given to all employees, whether they are male or female	%	5	11.6	19	39.5	24.8	3.67	1.120
32 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25	Freq	13	30	49	102	64		
Female employees are encouraged with in CBE.	%	5	9.3	12	46.5	27.1	3.81	1.090
	Freq	13	24	31	120	70		
The working	%	4.7	17.4	22.1	40.7	15.1	3.44	1.087
environment is conductive for female.	Freq	12	45	57	105	39		
		Over all	mean				3.70	

Source: own survey (2019)

Table 4.5 shows the response for each of the item in gender diversity, accordingly 110 (42.6%) of the respondent agreed and 84(32.6%) strongly agreed that employee of CBE is not discriminated based on gender during hiring and recruitment while 27(10.5%) of the respondent disagreed and 15(5.8%) were strongly disagreed with the idea and 22(8.5 %) were indifferent neither agreed nor disagreed.

In view of the second question 102 (39.5%) of the respondents agreed and 64 (24.8%) strongly agreed respectively that fair treatment is given to all employees regardless of their sex, while 49(19%) which is closer to the strongly agreed response rate shows that most of the respondents were not sure that weather the organization gives fair treatment or not, while 30 (11.6%) and

13 (5%) of the respondent were disagreed and strongly disagreed respectively with the

statement.

Majority of the respondent 120 (46.5%) agreed and 70 (27.1%) were strongly agreed that

female employees are encouraged while 13(5%) of the respondent disagreed. On the other

hand, 12 (4.7%) of the respondent believe that the working environments were conductive for

female while 57 (22.1%) highest number of respondent next to the agreed respondent were

neutral about the working environment and 45 (17.3%) and 12 (4.7%) were disagreed and

strongly disagreed with the statement.

As table 4.2 shows that the majority of the respondents mean value (3.86) with highest standard

deviation 1.156 replied that employee have not been discriminated by employer while hiring

and recruiting process based on gender. Response consistent with Bemnet (2017) However, a

company may emphasize to increase Females representation in managerial position as we saw

it on demographic section of the respondent they are underrepresented. With regard to female

employee encouragement mean (3.81) of respondents replied that females are encouraged in

the company with standard deviation 1.090. Likewise, the study result revealed that fair

treatment is given in the organization weather they are men or female with mean 3.67.

Regarding the last construct of table 4.1 mean 3.44 shows also shows positive perception of

respondents towards the working environment.

Looking at the overall mean of the above table one can infer that there is a positive perception

about gender diversity in the organization.

4.3.2 Age Diversity

The table illustrated below shows the response of managers regarding age diversity in CBE

with the respective mean and standard deviation.

Table 4.3: Perception on age diversity

Source: own survey (2019)

27

AGE diversity		Strongly disagree	disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	mean	Standard deviation
My team leader including all members in problem solving and decision	%	1.9	11.6	28.3	48.4	9.7	3.52	.892
making regardless of age difference.	Freq	5	30	73	125	25		
The age difference in work	%	12.8	12.4	12.8	51.6	10.5	3.34	1.207
group might not cause conflict.	Freq	33	32	33	133	27		
At work, I don't experience lack of bonding with	%	4.3	14.7	18.2	53.1	9.7	3.49	.999
people of different age group.	Freq	11	38	47	137	25		
Am positive about age	%	1.9	3.5	5.4	49.2	39.9	4.22	.850
diversity in workplace	Freq	5	9	14	127	103		
		Over all m	nean				3.64	

The respondents 125(48.4%) respondents agreed with the statement leader includes all members in problem solving and decision making regardless of age difference and 73(28.3%) were indifferent followed by 30 (11.6%) respondents disagreed with the statement. Similar to the result of the first statement 133 (51.6%) (Half of the respondents) agreed that the age difference in workgroup might not cause conflict. 33 (12.8%) were both neutral and strongly disagreed followed by 32 (12.4%) that were disagreed with the statement.137 (53.1%) of the respondent agreed with the statement at work I don't experience lack of bonding people of different age group, and 47 (18.2%) were neutral followed by 38 (14.7%) ,11 (4.3%) disagree and strongly disagree response respectively.

For the last statement 127 (49.2%) and 103(39.9%) were agreed and strongly agreed that the respondents are positive about age diversity in the workplace and 14 (5.4%),9(3.5%) and

5(1.9%) were neutral, disagree and strongly agreed respectively. this shows managers are

positive about age diversity in the organization.

Age diversity is a shared phenomenon that is present in nearly all groupings, such as families,

higher institutions, sport teams, and work or team groups with members of varying ages

(Kunze, Boehm, & Bruch, 2013). According to Ekot (2018) having a diverse age group

produces and creates better working relationships and enhances social cohesion for all.

Similarly, most of the respondent was positive about age diversity in the organization with

mean 4.22.and lowest standard deviation .850 also most of the respondent agree that team

leaders include all member in problem solving and decision making regardless of age

difference with mean 3.52which reveal managers invite all team member to participate in

problem solving and decision making. Also replied that they are not challenged by lack of

bonding with different age group and age difference work group might not cause conflict with

a mean of 3.49 and 3.34 with highest standard deviation 1.207 respectively.

On the other hand, the overall mean of age diversity construct shows 3.64 which show a

positive perception about age diversity in the organization and one can also infer that

respondents agreed with all the age constructs of the researcher and there is positive phenomena

that create conferrable or inclusive work environment to all age group.

4.3.3 Educational Diversity

Table 4.4 Perception on educational Diversity

Source: own survey (2019)

29

Educational diversity		Strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	Mean	Standard deviation
The recruitment plan of CBE is based on the	%	9.3	7.0	7.4	46.1	30.2	3.81	1.209
educational background of employees	Freq	24	18	19	119	78		
CBE provides free study leave to employees in		16.7	39.9	18.2	18.6	6.6	2.59	1.161
different level of education	Freq	43	103	47	48	17		
CBE provide tuition fee		9.7	24.0	26.7	31.4	8.1	3.04	1.127
for study to its employees	Freq	25	62	69	81	21		
At work, I never experience lack of		31.8	36.8	8.9	17.8	4.7	2.27	1.214
confidence due to level of my educational background	Freq	82	95	23	46	12		
		Overa	ll mean				2.93	

78 (30.2%) of the respondent agreed and 119 (46.1%) strongly agreed that the recruitment plan of CBE is based on educational background of employees. While 24(9.3%) strongly disagree,19 (7.4%) were neutral and the remaining 18 (7%) were agreed with the statement. Regarding weather CBE provides free study leave 103 (39.9%)respondents were disagreed,48(18.6%) agreed but 47 (18.2%) were neither agreed nor disagreed the rest 43 (16.7%) strongly disagree and 17 (6.6%)of the respondent were strongly agree. For the statement CBE provides tuition fee for study to its employees 81 (31.4%) and 21(8.1%) were

agreed and strongly agree respectively.69 (26.7%) were neutral 62 (24%) disagreed and 25

(9.7%) were strongly disagreed in view of the last statement at work I experience lack of

confidence due to level of my educational background 95 (36.8%) disagree,82 (31.8%) strongly

disagree,46(17.8) were agreed and 23 (8.9 %) were neutral.

CBE HR policy dictates recruitment of employees is based on educational background parallel

with the statement most of the respondent with highest mean 3.81 and highest standard

deviation 1.209 for the statement CBE provides tuition fee for study to its employees have

mean 3.04 and standard deviation 1.127, according to Eduard (2010), employees who are less

educated are likely to suffer inferiority complex, which to a large measure may affect their

performance. He argued that such employees might develop a persistent feeling of being

inferior. Such employees end up feeling socially insecure and they become less confident at

work. He concluded that the lack of confidence would greatly impair their performance and

could even make them develop a negative attitude toward other employees and the entire

organization. Consistent with the idea most of the respondents (mean 2.27) replied that they

are challenged by lack of confidence based on their educational background. Lastly

respondents replied with mean value 2.59 that Organization provides free study leave to its

employees.

The overall mean of the educational diversity construct shows 2.93 mean which is respondents

have slightly moderate or positive perception about educational diversity such as recruitment

based on educational background of employs, organization provide tuition fee to cover study

of its but they are challenged by lack of confidence based on their educational background and

company have to work to improve educational status of employees.

**4.3.4** Benefits of Workforce Diversity Management

Table 4.5: perception on benefits of workforce diversity

Source: own survey (2019)

31

Benefits of workforce div	versity	Strongly disagree	Disagree	neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	Mean	Standar d deviation
CBE implements inclusive policy to make	%	14.3	23.6	34.5	24.0	3.5	2.79	1.072
sure employees satisfaction is achieved.	Freq	37	61	89	62	9		
Effective management of	%	3.5	3.9	5.0	58.1	29.5	4.06	.902
diversity increase efficiency.	Freq	9	10	13	150	76		
Managing of diversity	%	1.9	3.5	7.8	52.3	34.5	4.14	.848
increase creativity.	Freq	5	9	20	135	89		
Managing of diversity	%	1.9	4.3	5.4	58.1	30.2	4.10	.833
increase productivity.	Freq	5	11	14	150	78		
Managing of diversity	%	1.9	5.4	9.7	58.1	24.8	3.98	.860
increase employee's motivation.	Freq	5	14	25	150	64		
		Over all	mean				3.82	

In response to the benefits of diversity management in CBE 89 (34.5%) of the respondent was neutral about weather CBE implements inclusive policy to make sure employees satisfaction is achieved .62 (24%) were agreed which is almost same value with disagreed response while 37(14.3%) strongly disagree and 9 (3.5%) were strongly agree.

150 (58.1%) and 76 (29.5%) of the respondent agreed and strongly agreed that effective diversity management can increase efficiency. But 13 (5%) replied they are neutral, 10 (3.9%) disagree and 9(3.5%) were strongly disagree. most of the respondents 150 (58.1%) agreed and 78(30.2%) strongly agree that managing diversity increase productivity while 14(5.4%) replied neutral, 11(4.3%) disagree and 5 (1.9%) strongly disagree. In response to the last statement 150(58.1%) were agreed and 64(24.8%) strongly agree that managing diversity increase employee motivation and the remaining respondent 25(9.7%) strongly disagree.

As it shown from the above table 4.8, highest mean 4.14 of the respondent replied that

managing diversity enlarges creativity with standard deviation .848 and also it enhances

productivity of mean value 4.10with lowest standard deviation .833. As Henry and Evans

(2007) diversity in the workforce is a competitive advantage as the various view points in the

organization can easily facilitate unique and creative mechanisms to problem-solving which

enhances greatly creativity and innovation that leads to better organizational performance.

According to (Secord, 2003) Employee efficiency refers to either cost of achieving a task or

the speed at which task is Accomplished While diversity management is enabling employees

to make use of their skills and knowledge to contribute to the workgroup and organizational

success which is parallel to the replies Effective management of diversity increase efficiency

with mean value 4.06. Motivation also the other benefits of managing diversity which is

supported by kim (2008) managing diversity boost Employees ability and motivation to do

their job also advance their satisfaction. On the contrary, 2.79 mean and highest standard

deviation 1.072 or most of the respondents assert that CBE have not implemented inclusion

policy to achieve employee satisfaction.

Looking at the overall mean about benefits of diversity management in CBE 3.82 mean shows

Managers in the organization have positive perception towards the benefits of diversity

Management. But there has to be a guideline or policy to utilize those benefits and to handle

differences and maintain employee satisfaction.

**4.3.5** Challenges of Workforce Diversity Management

Table 4.6: Perception on Challenges of Workforce Diversity Management

Source: Own survey (2019)

33

Challenges of workforce d	iversity	Strongly disagree	disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	mean	Standard deviation
Workforce diversity negatively affects	%	13.2	26.7	32.2	17.8	10.1	2.85	1.165
communication.	Freq	34	69	83	46	26		
Managing of workforce diversity increase	%	14.3	29.5	27.5	24.0	4.7	2.75	1.113
organizational cost.	Freq	37	76	71	62	12		
Negative attitude and behaviors of an	%	1.2	7.4	15.1	54.7	21.7	3.88	.070
individual are serious barriers to manage workforce	Freq	3	19	39	141	56		
I think managers in this organization challenged	%	6.2	18.2	34.5	32.2	8.9	3.19	1.037
by lack of ability to manage the diverse workforce.	Freq	16	47	89	83	23		
Poor handling of diversity in the	%	4.7	20.9	13.2	36.0	25.2	3.56	1.206
organization lead to employee turnover.	Freq	12	54	34	93	65		
	1	<u>'</u> (	Over all mea	an	_1		3.25	

According to the above table 83(32.2%) of the respondents are neutral to the statement workforce diversity negatively affect communication, 69(26.7%) were disagree and 46(17.8) agree. while 34(13.2%) strongly disagree and 26(10.1%) strongly agree. Whereas, 76(29.5%) disagreed with the statement managing diversity increase organizational cost while 71(27.5%) were neutral, 62(24.0%) agreed and 37(14.3%) were strongly disagree. In view of the third item 141(54.7%) of the respondent agreed, 56 (21.7%) strongly agree and 39(15.1%) were neutral about the statement Negative attitude and behaviors of an individual are serious barriers

to manage workforce diversity and 19(7.4%) were disagreed while 3(1.2%) of the respondent strongly disagreed.

Many of the respondents 89(34.5%) neutral and 83(32.2%) were agree with the statement "I think managers in this organization challenged by lack of ability to manage a diverse workforce" whereas 47(18.2%) were disagreed and 23(8.9%) strongly agree and 16(6.2%) strongly disagree. For the last statement poor handling of diversity in the organization leads to employee turnover 93(36.0%) were agree and 65(25.2%) strongly agree while, 54(20.9%) of the respondent and 34(13.2%) replied neutral to the statement.

With regard to challenges of managing diverse workforce in the organization in the above table 4.9 the majority (3.88) and lowest standard deviation .070 claim that negative attitude and behaviors of an individual are serious barriers to manage the workforce. This is in line with what Kim (2006) said negative attitudes and behaviors can be serious barriers to organizational diversity because they can harm working relationships and damage morale and work productivity. Examples of negative attitudes and behaviors in the workplace include prejudice, stereotype and discrimination. Similarly, 3.56 mean and highest standard deviation 1.207 of respondent replied poor handling of diversity in the organization lead to employee turnover. this response assert by Roberson et, al. (2007) & Green et al. (2002) when diversity is not managed properly, there will be a potential for higher turnover, difficult in communication and interpersonal conflicts.

If managers are not skilled in managing diversity it will create conflict and uncertainty in the organization Erasumes (2007). (Henry and Evans, 2007) on the other hand said if managers skilled in diversity management they can create a comfortable working environment where no group is discriminated which help to utilize Employees skills and attitudes and to gain competitive advantage in relation to this idea 3.19 mean respondents agreed that managers in CBE challenged by lack of ability to manage diverse workforce. Managing of diversity increase organizational cost, costs associated with seminars, programs and lectures given to promote diversity in the corporation. These types of training are given to all levels of staff within the organization. They teach employees how to accept the personalities and ideas or thoughts of others. These programs also teach one how to deal with conflicts and prejudice in a professional and civil manner (white, 1999) in contrary to the idea respondents disagreed that diversity doesn't affect their communication with mean 2.85. Also majority of the respondents with

mean 2.75 managing diversity doesn't affect organizational cost. Employees also agree that diverse workforce doesn't affect communication with mean 2.85.

From the overall mean of perception on challenges of diversity management we can conclude that respondents perceive that managers challenged by those listed constructs especially lack of ability to manage diverse workforce, negative attitude and behaviors of an individual and also employee turnover. Whereas organization cost augmentation and communication problem have a lower effect than the others.

# 4.3.6 CBE Policy towards Workforce Diversity Management

Table 4.7: Perception on CBE Policy towards Workforce Diversity and Inclusion

CBE policy towards workforce diversity and inclusion		Strongly disagree	disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongl y agree	Mean	Standard deviation
CBE policy promotes fair treatment of employees	%	8.9	15.5	24.0	39.1	12.4	3.31	1.145
regardless of their different diversity characteristics.	Freq	23	40	62	102	32		
CBE uses diversity and inclusion effectively to	%	6.6	16.3	24.0	41.1	12.0	3.36	1.093
increase employees and customer satisfaction.	Freq	17	42	62	106	31		
CBE promotes diversity and inclusiveness in its	%	4.3	19.4	29.5	39.5	7.4	3.26	.994
recruitment and selection process.	Freq	11	50	76	102	19		
Employee participation in	%	3.1	12.8	27.1	49.2	7.8	3.46	.921
diversity and inclusion training is encouraged in CBE.	Freq	8	33	70	127	20		
CBE values employees	%	3.1	12.0	28.7	49.6	6.6	3.45	.899
with varied background and experience.	Freq	8	31	74	128	17		
		Over a	all mean				3.37	

Source: Own survey (2019)

102(39.1%) of the respondent agreed and 62(24.0%) of them neutral and 40(15.5%) disagreed that CBE policy promotes fair treatment of employees regardless of their different diversity

characteristics While 32(12.4%) strongly agreed and23(8.9%) strongly disagreed. For the construct "CBE uses diversity and inclusion effectively to increase employee and customer satisfaction 106(41.1%) respondents agree, 62(24.0%) were neutral 42(16.3%) disagree the remaining 31(12%) and 17(6.6%) of the respondent strongly agree and strongly disagreed respectively.

Majority of the respondent 102(39.5%) agreed and 76(29.5%) neutral that CBE promotes diversity and inclusiveness in its recruitment and selection process while 50(19.4%) of the respondent disagreed, 19(7.4%) of them strongly agree and 11(4.3%) were strongly disagreed with the statement. With regard to item four of the above table 127(49.2%) of the respondent agree, 70(27.1%) were neutral to the statement "employee participation in diversity and inclusion training is encouraged in CBE" but 33(12.8%) disagree and 8(3.1%) of the respondent were strongly disagreed.

In view of the statement CBE values employee with varied background and experience 128 (49.6%) of the respondent agreed, 74(28.7%) were neutral, 31(12.0%) disagreed with the statement, whereas 17(6.6%) were strongly agree and 8(3.1%) of them strongly disagree.

The statement employee participation in diversity and inclusion training is encouraged in CBE have the highest mean 3.46 with standard deviation .994 followed by CBE values employee with varied background and experience with mean 3.45 and the lowest standard deviation 0.899 .(Knouse and Dansby, 2000) argue that organizations that embrace equal opportunity and diversity gain advantage through increased effectiveness, increased employee satisfaction, and increased employee commitment which also improve customer satisfaction. In consistent to the idea most of the respondents agreed that CBE implement inclusion policy and improve its employee and customer satisfaction with mean 3.36.with regard to inclusion policy of the organization most of the respondent relatively have positive response that CBE values and promotes diversity in its recruitment and selection based on fair treatment without discrimination all have.

The overall mean toward perception on diversity policy of the organization shows a result of 3.37 average mean which infers that CBE had good perception towards the inclusion policy but that is not satisfactory company have to work on it this also shown in the interview section.

#### 4.3.7 Managers ability to utilize the advantage of Diversity Management

Table 4.8: Perception on Managers ability to utilize the advantage of diversity management

Managers ability to utili advantage of diversity management	ze the	Strongly disagree	disagr ee	Neutra 1	Agree	Strongly agree	mea n	Standard deviation
Understand that diverse workforce able to	%	3.9	13.6	27.1	46.1	9.3	3.43	.969
perform its full potential in an equitable work environment where no group has earned an advantage or disadvantage.	Freq	10	35	70	119	24		
I never think diversity initiatives are a waste of	%	25.2	33.7	17.8	17.4	5.8	2.45	1.206
time and cost.	Freq	65	87	46	45	15		
I am committed to Diversity in my	%	4.7	5.0	15.5	59.3	15.5	3.76	.936
organization.	Freq	12	13	40	153	40		
I focus on continuous  Learning about	%	3.5	11.6	12.8	55.4	16.7	3.70	.994
diversity.	Freq	9	30	33	143	43		
I am skilled at handling the Diversity in my	%	3.5	7.4	16.7	55.0	17.4	3.76	.945
workplace.	Freq	9	19	43	142	45		
Managers discriminate against certain groups of	%	8.9	30.2	19.4	35.7	5.8	2.99	1.119
employees regardless of their Performance.	Freq	23	78	50	92	15		
	%	1.9	13.2	21.3	56.2	7.4	3.54	.882

Managers connect	Freq	5	34	55	145	19		
diversity to the								
Organization's mission								
and vision.								
Manager creates a	%	6.6	17.8	26.0	42.2	7.4	3.26	1.047
comfortable working								
Environment for all	Freq	17	46	67	109	19		
types of people.								
		O	ver all mea	n			3.36	

Source own Survey (2019)

119(46.1%) of the respondent agreed to the statement I can enable the diverse workforce to perform its full potential in an equitable work environment where no group has an advantage and disadvantage 70(27.1%) were neutral, 35(13.6%) of them disagree with the statement while 24(9.3%) of the respondent strongly agree and 10(3.9%) strongly disagree. Most of the respondents 87(33.7%) and 65(25.2%) were disagree and strongly disagree respectively with the statement "I think diversity initiatives are waste of time and cost "while 46(17.8%) replied neutral, 45(17.4%) were agree and 15(5.8%) of the respondent strongly disagree.

Majority of the respondent 153(59.3%) agreed with the construct "I am committed to diversity in my organization" same rate of response recorded 40(15.5%) for neutral and strongly agree whereas 13(5.0%) of the respondents disagree and 12(4.7%) of them strongly disagree. With regard to question four I focus on contentious learning about diversity 143(55.4%) replied agree, 43(16.7%) were strongly agree, 33(12.8%) were neutral and 30(11.6%) of them replied disagree and 9(3.5%) were responded strongly disagree.

142(55%) of the respondent agree with statement I am skilled at handling the diversity in my organization.45 (17.4%) were strongly agree, 43(16.7%) replied neutral, 19 (7.4%) disagreed and 9(3.5%) of them responded strongly disagreed with the above statement. For the construct managers discriminate against certain group of employee regardless of their performance 92(35.7%) replied agree with the statement, 78(30.2%) were disagree and 50(19.4%) of them replied neutral .23(8.9%) of the respondent strongly disagree and 15(5.8% were strongly agree.

145(56.2%) of the respondent agreed with construct managers connect diversity to the organization mission and vision 55(21.3%) were neutral 34(13.2%) replied disagree but

19(7.4%) of the respondent strongly agree and 5(1.9%) of them strongly disagree. Most of the respondents 109(42.2%) were agreed with the last statement managers create a comfortable working environment for all types of people followed by 67(26.0%) of respondent who replied neutral, 46(17.8%) disagree, 19(7.4%) strongly agree and 17 (6.6%) were strongly disagreed with the statement.

Diversity management is considered as a proceed aimed to both maintain and create a positive work environment where all individual similarities and differences are valued and that all individual can maximize their contribution to organizational strategic objective and goals (Patrick and Kumar, 2012) which is consistent to the response of respondents CBE managers create a comfortable working environment for all types of people have mean of 3.26 and standard deviation 1.047. To maintain such environment managers must have to possess some skills and knowledge most of the respondents agreed that managers skilled at handling diversity in workplace with mean 3.76 and with standard deviation .945 and they understand that diverse workforce able to perform its full potential in an equitable work environment for all group of employees with mean 3.43. According to (Shaban, 2016) top management commitment is the initial step to manage diversity consistent with that most respondents replied that managers are committed to diversity in their organization with mean value 3.76 and lowest standard deviation .936. Managers have to accept to learn from others as well to upgrade their knowledge of cultural stereotype regarding focus on continuous learning about diversity also have mean 3.70.Diversity placement base leadership on supporting strategic operational decision and business objective (Shaban, 2016) accordingly most of (3.54 mean) respondents replied that managers connect diversity with organizational mission and vision. While respondents agree that diversity management are not west of time and cost and managers doesn't discriminate against certain group.

The overall mean shows 3.36 means managers in the organization perceived as they can utilize the benefits of diversity Management and also able to create a conductive work environment. Whereas manager perceives diversity initiatives are west of time and cost and there is also slight perception of discrimination against certain group regardless of their performance.

#### 4.4 Interview Discussion

In this part of data analysis, the researcher presents the result of in depth interview question made with HR Managers the four Addis Ababa district (East, West, North and South). Eight guiding question were designed in order to address the point that cannot be addressed.

- 1. Based on the question Does your organization has a diverse workforce and promotes its implementation?
  - The entire respondent replied that CBE has a diverse workforce that comprises of different background and culture regardless of their gender, age, Ethnicity and educational status. Implementation of equal employment opportunity and affirmative action takes place as per the HR policies of the organization
- 2. For the question does your organization have a diversity management policy? If not, how can you insure proper diversity management and inclusion in the workplace?
  - Again all the Managers responded that organization doesn't have such a policy. But the companies HR policy, procedure and labor low guide leaders or decision makers to avoid unnecessary biases and discrimination and somewhat help to work towards inclusion.
- 3. Regarding to the question, how do you insure inclusiveness in your recruitment and selection in your organization?
  - Managers explained that recruitment only takes place when there is need in the organization and only qualified employee that feat the need of the organization are selected regardless of gender, age and such characteristics that differentiate individuals. Company ensures an equal employment opportunity for all qualified individual out of which takes candidate with highest standard of competence and integrity. And the selection process only takes place as per the HR policy and procedure of the bank.
- 4. Regarding to the benefits of having diverse workforce in your organization?

  Respondents replied that as a service giving organization the company benefited with a better way to serving its customer (improved service excellence) by adopting new way of doing things employee improve efficiency and also teamwork among others.
- 5. For the question relating to challenges of having diverse workforce Managers replied Communication problem (language) is a serious barrier to communicate with staff as well as serving customers. Cultural difference makes hard to practice or adopt new way of doing job.
- 6. Regarding to the question does the organization use equal opportunities approach such as affirmative action? If so, for what purpose? Again all respondent explained that equal opportunity approach is given to all candidates in recruitment and selection from internal and external applicants and affirmative action applied for new entrant females.

# **CHAPTER FIVE**

# SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

# **5.1 Summary of Major Findings**

This part of the study summarizes and concludes the main findings obtained from the collected data and provide some recommendations to be implemented by concerned bodies in order to alleviate existing challenges and problems. It is important for management to know that the diversity plan that works or is encouraged by one organization may not work in another as it may be challenged by the hierarchical structure that is present in such organization.

The following points are the major findings of the study:

- Even though there is a positive perception about gender diversity in the organization., the demographic representation of male and female in senior and middle level managerial positions shows un even distribution of gender females took only 20.5% of managerial positions of the organization, it signified that position dominated by males. there is also conductive working environment to all age group but when we look at age distribution one can see the age imbalance the organization in the organization most of (50%) the respondents fall under the young age group regarding educational status most of them attained a higher education organization has a diverse and qualified team leader in terms of educational qualification from PhD to diploma. Within this context, the organization benefited from a heterogeneous mix of leader working for the organization at different levels of managerial position as per their job description with the needed educational qualification. It was also identified that the broad mix of educational qualifications benefited the organization in getting different opinions/work views at different levels and setting a dynamic team with in their subordinate who came up with different backgrounds and specialization. The organization has diversified in terms of educational background, and benefited from both new bloods to the organization who injects new ideas and innovative ways of working and flexibility with the new ones. On the other hand, the organization maximized the knowledge of those who have served in the organization from medium to long years of experience and understanding of the organizational culture as it gave the opportunity to the organization.
- ♣ Benefits and challenges of diversity management well understood and the company has equal employment opportunity and affirmative action but lacks an inclusion policy to support its implementation and to improve ability of managers to manage diversity of the organization. Absence of clear inclusion policy was the major gap observed in this study.
- ♣ CBE equal employment opportunity policy helped the organization to practice diversity management and to avoid unnecessary biases and discrimination.
- ♣ CBE work towards educational diversity and provide tuition fee to its employees to increase their capacity still employee challenged by lack of confidence based on their educational background.

- ♣ Efficiency, creativity, improvement in productivity and motivation are the benefits that Organization received through diversity management.
- ♣ Even though CBE managers think diversity initiatives are west of time and cost and sometimes there is tendency to discriminate certain groups regardless of their performance. Managers in the organization aware of all the benefits of having diverse workforce and they have the capacity to utilize benefits of managing diverse workforce
- Lack of ability to manage diversity, negative attitude and behaviors of an individual ,intention to turnover and communication problem observed as challenge to manage diverse workforce in the company

#### **5.2 Conclusions**

Diversity management is a process of creating and maintaining a positive environment, where an individual's similarity and difference are valued so that all individual can maximize their contribution to organizational objective (Patrick & Kumar, 2012)

Diversity could be considered as a source of strength to the organization while other considers that diversity could be source of weakness. The result depends on the organizational structure, culture and also Managers ability to utilize diversity opportunities and minimize its challenges. The study aims to show the practice and challenges of diversity management in Commercial Bank of Ethiopia, in this regard the researcher tried to assess the benefit, practices and challenges of diversity management. The research also examines Managers ability to utilize diversity opportunities in the organization because effect of diversity management in the organization highly depends on Managers ability. In conclusion to the analysis, practice of diversity management applied in the organization based on equal employment opportunity while failed to develop and implement inclusion policy in the organization. Creativity, efficiency, motivational improvement and increment of employee's productivity are the benefits that the organization got through diversity management. On the other hand, Lack of ability to manage diverse work force, negative attitude of individual such as discrimination of

groups also challenge to manage diversity in CBE and turnover intention also observed as challenge to manage diversity. Managers also challenged by Lack of confidence based on their educational background.

# 5.3 Limitations of the study

The research only considers gender, age, educational background and year of service in order to assess practice of diversity management in the commercial bank of Ethiopia and left other dimension because of time constraint. In order to fully analyze diversity practice further study need to be undertake by including all characteristics that are not included in this study and also organization culture has to be examined because diversity management highly depend on organizational culture and hierarchical structure of the organization.

#### **5.4 Recommendations**

The following recommendations are stated as vital actions to be performed by CBE to more diversify its workforce diversity:

- CBE has to use affirmative action to increase the representations of women.
- The organization to work more in diversifying the age of workforce as it inclined significantly to the youth in its present form. This has also improved by valuing age and giving weight to experience it also work through affirmative action.
- Despite the enormous benefits of workforce diversity, the organization also need to tailor mechanisms to minimize the disadvantages that may result in failure of accommodating various backgrounds, ideas, values, cultures and working conditions.
   This can be done through introducing diversity management policy.
- As CBE have diversified workforce, company have to develop a clear diversity policy
  that dictates how to work with differences and avoid biases. It also serve as a guideline
  to managers and HR managers implement the policy consistently.
- CBE have to provide diversity training such as cultural training to leaders as well to
  all employees in order to increase their awareness and increase the ability of managers
  to deal with difference and avoid negative attitudes about individuals and develop
  ethical values that allows them to make appropriate use of the diverse workforce.

 CBE also has to improve educational background of managers as well employees by providing tuition fee and free study leave in doing so lack confidence avoided motivation improved and also turnover intention minimized.

## REFERENCES

Arredondo, P. (1996). Successful Diversity Management Initiatives: A Blueprint For Planning and Implementation. California: Sage Publications Inc.

Assefa, A. W. (2014, November). *Effect of Workforce Diversity Towards Employee*Performance in Total Ethiopia S.C. Retrieved February 20, 2011, from

<a href="http://repository.smuc.edu.et/bitstream/123456789/731/1/ASSEFA%20ADMASU.pdf">http://repository.smuc.edu.et/bitstream/123456789/731/1/ASSEFA%20ADMASU.pdf</a>

Bonett, D. G. & Wright, A. T. (2014). Cronbach's alpha reliability: Interval estimation, hypothesis testing, and sample size planning. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 1-14. DOI: 10.1002/job.1960.

Bedi, P. Lakra, P. and Gupta, E. (Apr. 2014). Workforce Diversity Management: Biggest Challenge Or Opportunity For 21st Century Organizations, Volume 16, Issue 4. Ver. III, PP 102-107

Childs, J. T., (Spring 2005). Managing workforce diversity at IBM: a global HR topic that has arrived. *HumanResource Management*. 44(1): 73-77. 5p. DOI: 10.1002/hrm.20042.

Childs, J., et al. (2005). "Workforce diversity: A global HR topic that has arrived." *The future of human resource management* 64: 110-118.

Cañas, K., &Sondak, H. (2010, May). Challenging and improving the teaching of diversity management. *International Journal of Diversity in Organizations, Communities and Nations*, 10(2): 139-158.

Erasmus, L. (2007). The Management of Workforce Diversity and the Implications for Leadership at Financial Asset Services. Business Management, University of Johannesburg.

Ekot, C.A.(2017,June). *Effects of workforce diversity on employee performance in Nigerian Banking Industry* (A study of first Bank Nigeria LTD., OTA Branch)

Eduard, B. (2010). *Overcoming Inferiority Complex People Skills Decoded*. Retrieved, www.peopleskillsdecoded.com/inferiority-complex.

Green, K., Lopez, M., Wysocki, A., Kepner, K., Fransworth, D. & Clark, L. (2002). Diversity in the workplace: Benefits, challenges, and the required managerial tools. *IFAS Extension*, *University of Florida*, 1-5.

Henry, O., & Evans, J. (2007). Critical review of literature on workforce diversity. *African Journal of Business Management*, 1993-8233, 72-76.

Hudson, W. (2014). Diversity in the workforce. *Journal of Education and Human Development*, 2334-296X, 73-82.

Horwitz, S. (2005). The Compositional Impact of Team Diversity on Performance: TheoreticalConsiderations. http://www.researchgate.net/journal/1552 6712\_Human\_Resource\_Development\_Review.

Kelali, A, 2018. Prospects and Challenges of workforce diversity: case of Medicines Sans Frontiers- Holland Ethiopia Mission.

Knouse, S.B. and Dansby, M.R. (2000) 'Recent diversity research at the Defense Equal Opportunity Management Institute'. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 24(2): pp. 203-205.

Krietz, A. (2007). Best practices for managing organizational diversity. *Stanford Linear Accelerator Center*, SLAC-PUB-12499, 2-8.

Kreitz, P. A. (2008). Best Practices for Managing Organizational Diversity. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 34(6), 101-120.

Kothari C. (1990). *Research Methodology: Methods and Techniques*, New Age International (P) Ltd Publisher, New Delhi.

Noe, A. (2010). Employee training and development. (5<sup>th</sup>ed.). New York, NY: Mc-Graw Hill.

Roberson, L. & Kulik, C.T. (2007). Stereotype threat at work. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 21, 24-40.

Robbins, S. P., & Judge, T. (2009). *Organizational behavior*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.

Saron, E.2017. The Effect of Workforce Diversity on Employee Performance case of Addis Credit and Saving Institution S.C. http://repository.aau.edu.et

Saxena, A. (2014). Workforce diversity: A key to improve productivity. *Symbiosis Institute of Management Studies Annual Research Conference*, SIMSARC13, 76-85.

Secord, H. (2003). *Implementing Best Practices in Human Resources Management*. Canada: CCH Canadian Limited.

Simens, M., & Rowland, M. (2011). Diversity and its impact on organizational performance: The influence of diversity constructions on expectations and outcomes. *Journal of Technology Management and Innovation*, 6(3), 172-182.

Shaban, A. (2016), Managing and Leading a Diverse Workforce: One of the Main Challenges in Management. 3rd International Conference on New Challenges in Management and Organization: Organization and Leadership, 2 May 2016, Dubai,

Shuttleworth M. (2015). *Internal Consistency Reliability*. Retrieved on 13 May, 2019 https://explorable.com/internal-consistencyreliability

Smith, T. (2011)"*Toward a Taxonomy of Diversity at Work: Developing and Validating the Workplace Diversity Inventory*". Dissertations and Theses. Paper 158.

Srivastava, E. & Agarwal, N. (2012). The Emerging Challenges in HRM. *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research*, 1(6), 46-48.

Sungjoo, L. (2010). *Open innovation in SMEs:An intermediated network model*. ROI, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733309002248

Torrington, T., Hall, L., & Taylor, S. (2008). *Human resource management*. (7<sup>th</sup>ed.). Edinburgh, England: Pearson Education England.

Triandis, H. C., Kurowski, L. L., &Gelfand, M. J. (1992). Workplace diversity. In H. C.

Triandis, M. Dunnette, & L. M. Hough (Eds.), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology* (pp. 770827). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

Wentling, M., & Palma-Rivas, N. (1997). Current status and future trends of diversity initiatives in the workplace: Diversity experts' perspective. *Diversity in the workforce series* #2, MDS 1082, 23-36.

Wheeler, R.D. (1997) 'Managing workforce diversity'. Tax Executive, 49(6): pp. 493.

White R.D (1999). *Managing the diverse organization: the imperative for a new multicultural paradigm*, available at: www.pamij.com/99\_4\_4\_white.htm .

 $\underline{https://www.combanketh.et/AboutUs/CompanyProfile.aspx}.$ 

## **APPENDIX-A**

## Questionnaire

## St Mary's University

#### School of Postgraduate Studies, Masters of Business Administration

Dear Sir/Madam, I am student of Master of Business Administration (MBA) in St Mary's University. The following research is part of my MBA study and conducted for purely academic purposes. The purpose of research is to find out the practice and challenges of workforce diversity management in CBE. All the information collected through the questionnaire will be used only for contribution to knowledge and kept confidential. Please ensure that you mark all the given statements otherwise incomplete responses will not fulfill researcher requirements. To this end, kindly request you to answer the following short questions regarding with the stated objective. It will take no longer than 10 minutes of your time. Your response is utmost important to me. Therefore, your genuine, honest and prompt response is a valuable input for the quality and successful completion of the research paper. Thank you in advance for your collaboration to fill the questionnaire by spending your valuable time.

#### **Directions**

• No need to write your name,

#### **Part I – General Information of the Respondents**

Please specify your answer by placing a  $(\sqrt)$  on the relevant answers provided. The following questions will be used to assess the general demographics characteristics of CBE.

1. Gender:						
A) Male (	)	B) Female (	)			
2. Age:						
A) 20 -30	( )	B) 31 -40 ( )	C) 41 -50 (	)	D) above 50 ( )	
3. Educational	status:					
A) College I	Diplom	a( ) B) BA/BSC I	Degree ( )	C) Maste	ers ( ) D) PHD (	)

4. Years of service in CBE:

A) Less than 2 years ( ) B) 2 to 5 years ( ) C) 6 to 10 years ( ) D) above 10 years ( )

# Part II –Assessing Practice and Challenge

Perception relate to your feelings about the commercial bank of Ethiopia. Please show the extent to which you believe this bank has the feature described in the statement. Here, you can use numbers from 1 to 5 that shows your expectations & perception about the bank where:

- (1) Strongly Disagree
- (2) Disagree
- (3) Neutral
- (4) Agree
- (5) Strongly Agree

	Gender diversity	1	2	3	4	5
1.	The employee have not been discriminated by employer while hiring and recruiting process based on gender					
2.	Fair treatment is given to all employees, whether they are male or female					
3.	Female employees are encouraged with in CBE.					
4.	The working environment is conductive for female.					
	Age diversity	1	2	3	4	5
1.	My team leader including all members in problem solving and decision making regardless of age difference.					
2.	The age difference in work group might not cause conflict.					
3.	At work, I don't experience lack of bonding with people of different age group.					
4.	Am positive about age diversity in workplace					
	Educational diversity	1	2	3	4	5
1.	The recruitment plan of CBE is based on the education background of employees.					
2.	CBE provides free study leave to employees in different level of education					

3.	CBE provide tuition fee for study to its employees					
4.	At work, I never experience lack of confidence due to level of my educational background					
	Benefits of workforce diversity	1	2	3	4	5
1.	CBE implements inclusive policy to make sure employees satisfaction is achieved.					
2.	Effective management of diversity increase efficiency.					
3.	Managing of diversity increase creativity.					
4.	Managing of diversity increase productivity.					
5.	Managing of diversity increase employee's motivation.					
	Challenges of workforce diversity	1	2	3	4	5
1.	Workforce diversity negatively affects communication.					
2.	Managing of workforce diversity increase organizational cost.					
3	Negative attitude and behaviors of an individual's like discrimination and prejudice are challenges to manage the diverse workforce.					
4.	I think managers in this organization challenged by lack of ability to manage the diverse workforce.					
5.	Poor handling of diversity in the organization lead to employee turnover.					

	CBE policy towards workforce diversity and inclusion	1	2	3	4	5
1.	CBE policy promotes fair treatment of employees regardless of their different diversity characteristics.					
2.	CBE uses diversity and inclusion effectively to increase employees and customer satisfaction.					
3.	CBE promotes diversity and inclusiveness in its recruitment and selection process.					
4.	Employee participation in diversity and inclusion training is encouraged in CBE.					
5.	CBE values employees with varied background and experience.					
	Managers ability to utilize the advantage of diversity management	1	2	3	4	5
1.	Understand that diverse workforce able to perform its full potential in an equitable work environment where no group has earned an advantage or disadvantage.					
2.	I never thinks diversity initiatives are a Waste of time and cost.					
3.	I am committed to Diversity in my organization.					
4.	I focus on continuous Learning about diversity.					
5.	I am skilled at handling the Diversity in my workplace.					

6.	Managers discriminates against certain			
	Groups of employees regardless of their			
	Performance.			
7.	Managers connect diversity to the			
	Organization's mission and vision.			
8.	Manager creates a comfortable working			
	Environment for all types of people.			

xiv

## **APPENDIX-B**

# **Interview Questionnaire**

## St Mary's University

## School of Postgraduate Studies, Masters of Business Administration

## An interview question to the HR Manager

- 1. Does your organization has a diverse workforce and promotes its implementation?
- 2. Does your organization have a diversity management policy? If not, how can you insure proper diversity management and inclusion in the workplace?
- 3. How do you insure inclusiveness in your recruitment and selection in your organization?
- 4. What are the benefits of having workforce diversity in your organization?
- 5. What do you see as the most challenging aspect of diverse workforce?
- 6. Does the organization use equal opportunities approach such as affirmative action? If so for what purpose?